IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA

et al.,

Appellants,

VS.

FLORIDA FILED SIDJ. WHITE MAR 14 1994 CLERK, SUPREME COURT, By Chief Deputy Clerk

THE CITY OF PORT ORANGE, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellees.

On Appeal from a Final Order of the Seventh Judicial Circuit Court, In and For Volusia County, Florida

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOSEPH C. MELLICHAMP, III ERIC J. TAYLOR SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 0133249 Fla. Bar No. 0337609

JURISDICTION

Pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, this Court has jurisdiction over final orders entered in proceedings for the validation of bonds where provided by general law. On January 6, 1994, the Circuit Court for the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County, Florida, entered such a final order concerning the bond issue the City of Port Orange proposed to issue related to its newly created Transportation Utility. Section 75.08, Florida Statutes (1993), provides the State the right to appeal the Circuit Court's decision to this Court.

Under Section 75.01, Florida Statutes (1993), a circuit court has "jurisdiction to determine the validation of bonds and all matters connected therewith." A suit for bond validation is a legislatively created cause of action which permits a public body corporate in the State of Florida to obtain an adjudication as to the validity of debt it proposes to incur and the regularity of proceedings taken in connection therewith. Section 75.02, Florida Statutes (1993). The issues properly before the circuit court in a validation proceeding are:

(i) The public body's authority under the constitution and laws of Florida to issue the proposed bonds;

(ii) The public body's authority to expend the proceeds of the bonds for the intended purpose;

(iii) The validity of the taxes, assessments or other revenues pledged as security for the bonds and the proceedings relative thereto (including covenants relating thereto in the bond documents);

(iv) The legality of the public body's legislative

proceedings with respect to the bonds and the security therefore; and

(v) Compliance by the issuer with any legally required conditions precedent to the issuance of the bonds (such as the holding of a bond election).

Section 75.02, Florida Statutes. As this Court has stated, the scope of judicial review is limited to a determination of the authority of the public body to issue the bonds, determine if the purpose of the obligation is legal, and ensure that authorization of the bonds complies with the requirement of law. <u>Taylor v.</u> <u>Lee County</u>, 498 So. 2d 424, 425 (Fla. 1986). <u>See also</u>, <u>Warner</u> <u>Cable Communications, Inc. v. City of Niceville</u>, 520 So. 2d 245, 246 (Fla. 1988); <u>Risher v. Town of Inglis</u>, 522 So. 2d 355, 356 (Fla. 1988); <u>Lodwick v. School District of Palm Beach County</u>, 506 So. 2d 40, 409 (Fla. 1987);

The question arises, did the circuit court have jurisdiction to hear the State Attorney's challenge to the "Transportation Utility Fee" that the City of Port Orange intends to levy against the property owners of the City and use to repay the debt obligation on the proposed bond. Section 75.02, Florida Statutes, clearly gives the circuit court the jurisdiction to determine the authority of the public body for the "assessment of taxes levied or to be levied" in support of the bond issue. This Court recognized that jurisdictional authority in <u>State v. City</u> of Miami, 103 So. 2d 185, 188 (Fla. 1958).

Therefore, under the circumstances of this case, the Circuit Court for the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia

County, Florida, had jurisdiction to determine the validity of the bonds the City of Port Orange, Florida, proposed to issue and this Court has the jurisdiction to review the decision of the Circuit Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. FINDINGS OF FACT

The City of Port Orange (hereinafter "City") is, and at all times hereinafter mentioned, a public body of the State of Florida, as defined in Section 1.01(8), Florida Statutes, organized and existing under the provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the State of Florida.

ORDINANCE 1992-11: TRANSPORTATION UTILITY FEE

On June 2, 1992, the City enacted Ordinance No. 92-11 (the "Transportation Utility Ordinance")(Appendix 1). Ordinance 1992-11 created a Transportation Utility of the City (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.2), and adopted a Transportation Utility Fee (hereinafter "Fee"), related to the use of City roads (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.5 [Section 20-128]). The City predicated their actions on the belief that the "City faces a shortage of revenues for operation, maintenance and improvement of roads" and that "inadequate financing" ¹/ will result in later costly repairs or replacement of the roads. (Appendix 1, Section 1 (a) and (b)).

Section 2 of the Ordinance created the Fee. The collected

¹/ Nowhere does the City justify the statement that there is "inadequate financing." There is no discussion that the City is at their 10 mill cap and cannot raise ad valorem taxes anymore. To the contrary, the Fee is intended, not to generate new funds, but "shall replace other general revenue funds of the City which would be required to be used for purposes of the City road system." Resolution 92-71 Section 1(f) (Appendix 2, p.2). The Fee is also intended to reduce the ad valorem tax costs for certain businesses. Transportation Study, page 12 (Appendix 3, p. 12). One of the benefits of the Fee stated in the Study is that "Government will not need to increase taxes to fund road resurfacing and ongoing maintenance." (Appendix 3, page 8 para. 4)

Fees "shall be dedicated to the operation, maintenance, and improvement of City roads." (Appendix 1, p.2). The Fee is imposed on developed lots and parcels in the City. (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.5). The Fee was calculated on the intended use of the collected funds and function of the roads within the City. ²/

2/ Sec. 20-129 Utility fee calculation. (Appendix 1, pp. 6-7)

(a) The City Council has determined that consistent with traffic engineering principles, different functions are performed by roadways classified by the City as arterials, collectors, or local roads, and accordingly, that the costs of different classes of roadway are occasioned differently and should be allocated separately.

(b) The feel shall be set so to defray a portion of City road costs occasioned by existing development within the City. The fee shall not be used to meet capital improvement needs attributable to growth, nor to defray operating and maintenance costs attributable to traffic passing through the City.

(c) For each class of roadway in the City system, the City Council shall establish the portion or amount of total road costs to be defrayed with fee proceeds. In establishing said portion or amount, the City Council shall consider the function of each roadway class, the extent to which roads are or will be used by new traffic generated by growth or by through traffic generated outside the City, and the availability of other funds for such purpose.

(d) The following apportionment of road costs shall be used to determine the allocation of road costs attributable to a class of roads to developed properties and properties fronting local roads.

(i) the primary function of arterial and collector roads is to provide mobility and facilitate traffic movement. Accordingly, costs incurred by the City on arterial and collector roads shall be allocated to all developed properties with the City.

(ii) The primary function of local roads is to provide access to abutting property. Accordingly, costs incurred by the City on local roads shall be allocated solely to developed properties fronting on local roads. None of said costs shall be allocated to properties fronting on private subdivision streets.

(e) The costs of each class of roadway to be defrayed by the fee shall be divided among the developed properties occasioning such costs in proportion to the estimated trip generation of such properties; provided that there may be established maximum and/or minimum fees for each type of property.

(f) It is hereby found and determined that the fee calculated as provided in this Section to be charged to each developed property within the City shall be substantially proportionate to

The Ordinance recognizes that costs of different classes of roadway are occasioned differently and must be allocated separately. (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.6 [Sec. 20-129(a)]) The Ordinance required that City maintained roads be classified as arterials, collectors or local roads, and that the cost of constructing and maintaining such roads be allocated separately. Id. Because arterial and collector roads provide mobility and facilitate traffic movement to and from all properties, the Ordinance required that costs incurred by the City on arterial and collector roads be allocated to all developed properties within the City. (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.6 [Sec. 20-129(d)(i)]). The primary function of local roads, it was determined, is to provide access to abutting properties. (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.6 [Sec. 20-129(d)(ii)]) The Ordinance required the City to allocate costs incurred on local roads to developed properties fronting on local roads. None of the costs of the local roads are allocated to properties fronting on private subdivision streets. Id.

The City is required by the Ordinance to estimate the amount of usage of the local roads by the owners and occupiers of developed properties in order to allocate the total costs to each parcel of property. (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.4 [Sec. 20-127]) The Ordinance provided that the City shall use the Institute

the costs occasioned by said property on the three classes or roadway.

⁽g) The fee schedule shall be revised from time to time to reflect changes in costs, land uses, trip generation rates, and other factors affecting the fee calculation.

Transportation Engineers ("ITE") Trip Generation manual as a

basis for trip estimates. 3/ (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.5 [Sec.

³/ Sec. 20-127. Trip generation estimates. (Appendix 1, p.p. 4-5)

(a) Having reviewed information and studies prepared by the Director of Public Works of the City and by the Center for Urban Transportation Research of the University of South Florida and heard public comment at public hearings held on May 5, 1992 and June 2, 1992, and upon consideration and discussion of such material and comments, the City Council hereby finds and determines that:

(1) trip generation by developed properties bears a reasonable relationship to use of City roads and to costs occasioned by such use and that calculation of the transportation utility fee on the basis of trip generation estimates, as set forth in the ITE Manual and as provided herein, will fairly and proportionately allocate the cost of providing City roads to the persons using City roads;

³/(con't) (2) the ITE Manual is a generally accepted and reliable guideline for estimating trip generation;

(3) while developed properties generate maintenance, utility-related, and other vehicle trips even when unoccupied, such properties generate fewer trips than the average reported for their land use category in the ITE Manual.

(b) Trip generation estimates shall be determined pursuant to the ITE Manual.

(1) Developed properties within the City shall be assigned to the most appropriate of the land use categories defined in the ITE Manual.

(2) Trip generation shall be measured in "average weekday vehicle trip ends," as defined in the ITE Manual. Average weekday vehicle trip ends shall be computed for each developed property based upon the ITE Manual's average trip generation rate or best-fit equation for the appropriate land use category. When faced with a choice between an average trip generation rate or a best-fit equation, the Director shall follow guidelines in the ITE Manual.

(3) If a developed property does not correspond to any land use category defined in the ITE Manual, weekday traffic counts shall be conducted at property boundaries to establish a trip generation rate.

(4) Shopping centers and business parks shall be treated as single traffic generators. Average trip generation rates or best-fit equations shall be used to compute the total number of trips generated by such developments. When necessary for billing purposes, total trips shall be divided among individual properties within the development in proportion to gross floor area.

(5) Trip generation estimates shall be adjusted for trips diverted to commercial establishments from passing traffic (pass-by

20-127(b)]).

Finally, the Ordinance created the Transportation Utility Fund ("TUF") in which all the Fees collected would be deposited and out of which all projects paid for.⁴/ (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.8 [Sec. 20-133]). The TUF "shall be used solely for operating, maintaining, and improving the City road system, and for debt service, reserve or other payments required by bonds." (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.8 [Sec. 20-133(a)]) The Fees collected "need not be spent in close proximity to such property, nor need they provide a special benefit to such property that is different in type or degree from benefits provided to the community as a whole." (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.9 [Sec. 20-133(c)])

The Fee is to be "billed and collected with the monthly utility bill" as part of a "consolidated statement" which is "paid with a single payment." (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.9 [Sec. 20-134(a) & (b)]). Any unpaid Fees "shall be a lien upon the property . . . until such fee is paid." (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.9 [Sec. 20-134(e)]) A sale of the land will not release the new owner of the unpaid Fee lien. (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.10 [Sec. 20-134(f)])

trips) and trips captured internally be multi-use developments (internal trips). In making such adjustments, the director shall consider results of studies reported in the ITE Manual, guidelines promulgated by governmental agencies, and any pertinent information supplied by the property owner.

⁴/ However, the City recognized that this was not the only source of the funds for the roads. The City was to use the Fee in conjunction with any monies received from the State and local gas tax.

RESOLUTION 92-71: THE TRANSPORTATION STUDY

On November 3, 1992, the Council adopted Resolution No. 92-71 which established the rates of the Transportation Utility (Appendix 2) Attached to the Resolution as Exhibit A was Fees. a study, "Transportation Utility Program, Investment Portfolio" ("Study") (Appendix 3) upon which the Fee rate structure was based. (Appendix 2, Section 1(b)) It was the "intent of the City Council that the amounts derived from the transportation utility fee shall replace other general revenue funds of the City which would be required to be used for purposes of the City road (Appendix 2, Section 1(f)). Accordingly, the "City system." Council declares its intentions that no amount shall be budgeted from the City General Fund to pay for those costs which are funded through the transportation utility." Id.. Presently, some \$195,000 from the City's General Fund is used to pave the (Appendix 3, p.5) In other words, the Fee is not a new roads. additional source of revenue, but merely a replacement of those City funds presently generated through ad valorem taxation.

The City had to allocate the costs for each class of roads to the users of that class of road in proportion to the number of estimated trips generated by each user. For administrative convenience and collection, the City established minimum fees for dwellings and commercial properties generating less than 143 trips per day, and established a per trip cost for commercial properties generating in excess of 142 trips per day. (Appendix 2, Section 2) The rate to be charged to owners or occupiers of

property in the City subject to the Fee was determined by the

City to be:

Property Class Rate (\$/month) Commercial Property Generating \$1.29 per month Between 0-142 Trips Per Day: Commercial Property Generated Between 143-6,000 Trips Per Day: \$.0002984 per trip Dwellings on City maintained Public Roads: \$1.29 per month Dwellings on Private Roads: \$.50 per month Dwellings on State or County Maintained Roads: \$.50 per month

Id. Based upon the following Fee calculation set forth in Section 2 of Ordinance 1992-11 (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.6 [Sec. 20-129]):

(d) The following apportionment of road costs shall be used to determine the allocation of road costs attributable to a class of roads to developed properties and properties fronting local roads.

(i) the primary function of arterial and collector roads is to provide mobility and facilitate traffic movement. Accordingly, costs incurred by the City on arterial and collector roads shall be allocated to all developed properties with the City.

(ii) The primary function of local roads is to provide access to abutting property. Accordingly, costs incurred by the City on local roads shall be allocated solely to developed properties fronting on local roads. None of said costs shall be allocated to properties fronting on private subdivision streets.

Each dwelling in the City was to pay \$.50 per month for the "costs incurred by the City on arterial and collector roads" but only those dwellings on City owned streets were to pay an additional \$.79 for the "costs incurred by the City on local roads." Dwellings located on arterial and collector roads and on private roads do NOT share in the costs in maintaining any of the City owned streets even though persons living on arterial and collector roads and on private roads do transverse over City owned "local roads." (Appendix 1, Section 2, p.6 [Sec. 20-129(d)])

The Study breaks down just what the City really intended to do by the Fee. Page 1 of the Study is a narrative of the Fee concept and how the City intends to meet its road needs. The City begins with the statement that to the present, "the City has been able to meet most of the maintenance, repair and resurfacing needs from the three (3) existing revenue sources." ⁵/ (Appendix 3, p.1) But with increased costs and competition, the "long-term program" for the roads would have to be "shifted to the property tax rate or a new source of revenue . . ." <u>Id.</u> So, in order to prevent having to raise property taxes on non-exempt or Homestead exempt property, the City chose a "new source of revenue . . . such as [the Fee]." <u>Id.</u>

What the City really intends to do is turn the streets of the City into a *utility* like water, sewer and garbage. <u>Id.</u> The fees collected will be dedicated to the roads and based on estimated trips generated. <u>Id.</u> Using the ITE Manual, the City estimated that each residential unit generated an average 9.55

⁵/ The City does not here describe what the "three (3) existing revenue sources" are. However, the three revenue sources can only be State gas taxes, local option gas taxes and revenues generated by ad valorem taxation of City property.

trips per day.⁶/ <u>Id.</u> Under its estimate, the City projects an annual shortfall of \$17,918 for non-residential, \$2,765 for privet residential and \$467,558 for public residential. <u>Id.</u> The City estimates that commercial properties generate little use of City owned roads, <u>Id.</u>, yet the City itself estimates that 40.63% of all trips generated in the City are commercial trips (Appendix 3, p.14). The City apparently assumes that non-City residents which use commercial properties in the City, i.e. shopping centers, hotels, tourist attractions, etc., do not use

Residential to Residential

With a monthly cost of \$1.29 per month, dwellings on public roads pay \$.0046 per trip while those on arterial or collector roads or private roads pay to the City's costs of City roads only \$.0016 per trip. Thus, there is nearly a 3 times difference between the two types of dwellings. The problem is that this formula envisions that persons living on private roads do not use the local roads at all. Such an assumption is preposterous.

Residential to Commercial

A. With a monthly cost of \$1.29 per month, dwellings on public roads pay \$.0046 per trip while commercial properties generating up to 142 trips per day pay \$.0004542 per trip (figure calculated on 142 trips per day multiplied by 20 days of business per month and divided by the \$1.29 per month charge for such businesses).

B. With a monthly cost of \$1.29 per month, dwellings on public roads pay \$.129 per trip while commercial properties generating between 143 to 6,000 trips per day pay \$.0002984 per trip.

As can be seen from the City's own figures, dwellings on City streets bear the brunt of the costs of the City's Fee scheme where large commercial businesses, which are estimated to cause the most trips, pay the least (just about 20 times less) per trip.

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