OA 1 35

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, and the Taxpayers, Property Owners and Citizens of the City of Port Orange, Florida, including nonresidents owning property or subject to taxation therein, and all others having or claiming any right, title or interest in property to be affected by the issuance of not exceeding \$500,000 Transportation Utility Revenue Bonds, hereinafter more particularly described,

Appellants,

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 6 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

VS.

Case No. 83,103

CITY OF PORT ORANGE, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida.

Appellee.

#### APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

PETER L. DAME

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

User-charges to provide funds for the construction, operation and maintenance of streets and roads have long been accepted. Pursuant to statutorily stated State policy, express statutory authority, and its broad home rule powers, the City of Port Orange has determined to provide for the costs of constructions, operation and maintenance of the local streets within the City by collecting from the users of the streets fees proportionate to their use. The City is authorized to collect user fees to defray the costs of both governmental and proprietary function programs. The City has authority under its home rule powers to create a transportation utility. The transportation utility fee is likewise authorized under the City's home rule powers, unless the fee is legally classified as a tax (taxes must be authorized by general law). Under the "dual rational nexus" standard for determining whether a governmental imposition is a "fee" or a "tax", the transportation utility fee is properly classified as a fee, because (1) the fee receipts will be used to offset costs attributable to the use of the roads by the fee payors and (2) the funds collected are required to be applied to maintain the local road system for the substantial benefit of the users.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE CITY IS NOT REQUIRED TO FUND THE CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE AND OPERATION OF THE LOCAL STREETS SOLELY FROM GENERAL TAXES.

The Legislature of the State of Florida has plainly stated that it is the public policy of the State to encourage the implementation of self-sufficient, innovative, fiscally sound and cost effective methods of financing public facilities by local governments. This policy is expressly stated in the State Comprehensive Plan, specifically in Section 187.201(18), Florida Statutes, which states:

#### (18) PUBLIC FACILITIES: \*\*\*

- (B) Policies. --
  - 5. Encourage local government self-sufficiency in providing public facilities.
  - 6. Identify and implement innovative but fiscally sound and cost-effective techniques for financing public facilities.

In accordance with this articulated State policy, and in order to provide a dedicated and effective means of funding the considerable costs of construction, maintenance and operation of the local streets, the City of Port Orange, Florida (the "City") has created the transportation utility and imposed the transportation utility fee. (Appellants' App. 1 at p. 2.)

The decision by the City to fund a portion of its road costs from a user-fee rather than from the previously utilized source, ad valorem property taxes, is a policy decision properly made by the legislative body of the City. In general, the determination of the particular source of funding for a government program is a legislative function of local government. That the burdens of the particular funding mechanism chosen may fall differently than would have been the case had an alternate funding mechanism been chosen is not grounds to successfully

challenge the mechanism chosen. Although the Appellants may not particularly favor the replacement of ad valorem property tax revenues with user fees, that does not present a legal basis for challenge of the transportation utility fee.

In making its determination of the best funding source for road costs, the City is not limited to using only general taxes because road building and maintenance are a government-type function, as the State asserts. First, it is not clear that road building and maintenance are solely a governmental function. Second, even if these activities are primarily a governmental function, the City may charge user fees sufficient to defray the costs of providing the roads.

## A. ROAD BUILDING AND MAINTENANCE ARE NOT SOLELY A GOVERNMENTAL FUNCTION.

The distinction between a governmental function and a proprietary function of government is roughly based upon the distinction between those activities that can only be performed by a sovereign authority and those activities can be performed by either government or non-governmental parties. See Loeb v. City of Jacksonville, 101 Fla. 429, 134 So. 201 (1931).

To suggest that the building and maintaining of streets is not done, nor has it ever been done, by private enterprise is simply wrong. Private residential subdivisions, industrial parks and other developments frequently have streets that are built and maintained by private enterprise, just as the water, sewer and electric service for such facilities may be provided by private enterprise. The maintenance costs for such private roads are in many instances supported by condominium-type fees imposed on the properties within the development served by the private roads. In fact, one of the earliest proprietary-type functions of government was the construction and operation of roads for which a usage change was imposed. Such usage-charges, known as tolls, have long been an accepted means of providing funds for the operation and

maintenance of roads. Toll roads are not solely a governmental activity. In many states, such as California and Virginia, toll roads may be built and operated by private enterprise. Indeed, Florida Statutes, Section 334.30, enacted in 1991, expressly provides for private construction and operation of toll roads.

While the distinction between a governmental function and a proprietary function may have at one time been demarked by a bright line, in recent years the location of such line has become unclear. As "privatization" initiatives have expanded the activities of private enterprise into what were once clearly government-only activities, such as public schools, prisons, postal service, and security, and as local and state governments have broadened the scope and reach of their activities through statutory and home rule legislation, the usefulness of the governmental-proprietary function analysis in the context of governmental powers has been substantially eroded. Further, Appellants' argument that costs of governmental functions must be paid from taxes is not now, and has never been, correct. For example, most regulatory activities are clearly (and solely) a governmental function, yet the costs of regulation have routinely been imposed upon the persons benefitting from the regulated activity, or responsible for creating the need for regulation, through regulatory fees.

Thus, building and maintaining roads and streets is not solely a governmental type function, but in many instances is a proprietary-type function. The City has the power to impose fees with respect to proprietary activities. See Florida Statutes, Section 166.201. However, even if building and maintaining roads and streets were to be characterized as a governmental function, this would not require that the costs be funded solely from general taxes.<sup>1</sup> With

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>To state, as the Appellants' brief does, that governmental functions are primarily funded by taxes while proprietary functions are funded with fees and charges ignores the reality of local government budgeting and financing. For example, waste management, generally characterized as primarily a proprietary activity, rarely if ever generates fees sufficient to offset costs and must be funded with tax revenue contributions, while many cities generate surpluses from the proprietary operation of water, sewer or electric utilities that are used to supplement general fund revenues.

respect to governmental functions, the City may impose fees sufficient to defray its costs upon the persons benefitting from the activity or responsible for creating the need for the facilities, provided that the fees include the "dual rational nexus" standard (discussed at length in the next section).

<u>Day v. City of St. Augustine</u>, 104 Fla. 261, 139 So.880 (1932), is not inconsistent with the City's ability to charge a user-fee to those using the local roads. While the <u>result</u> of the decision in <u>Day</u> was to invalidate the charge levied in that case, the <u>legal principles</u> recognized the validity of imposing costs on those whose benefit from the facility or give rise to the need for the facilities. The <u>Day</u> court wrote approvingly of special assessments and tolls; both link use and benefit to payment. What the Court in <u>Day</u> disapproved was a method of imposing a charge for use of the roads for the purpose of augmenting the general revenues of the City of St. Augustine. The charge in that case was a general revenue raising measure — there was no correlation between the cost of providing the facilities and the revenue raised, nor was there any clear restriction as to the use of the funds for the particular purpose. For these reasons, the charge in <u>Day</u> was held to be an invalid tax that interfered with the public's right to use the public streets.

Nor does the existence of a right to use a governmental facility or service, even one characterized as a governmental function, necessarily require the such use be "service charge free", as the Appellant assents. The civil judicial system is a perfect example -- each citizen has a clear right to access and use the civil judicial system, but there are imposed various user-fees designed to help offset the cost of operating the system. Similarly, in <u>City of Daytona Beach Shores v. State</u>, 483 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1985), the Court expressly recognized the inherent right of Florida citizens to have access to and to use the beaches, under the public trust doctrine.

Nonetheless, the Court upheld an access <u>fee</u>, the proceeds of which were to be used for beach maintenance and related costs.

Further, a recent Florida case has upheld the authority of local governments to impose charges to defray the cost of clearly governmental functions. In <u>Rushfeldt v. Metropolitan Dade</u> County, 19 Fla. L.Wkly. D106 (3DCA, 1994), the Third District Court of Appeals approved the imposition of special assessments to pay for enhanced police services.

The distinction between a governmental function and proprietary function, as it relates to the authority of a local government to impose charges in connection with such function, is not, as Appellant asserts, the power to impose such charges. The proper distinction is the ability of the local government to make a profit, a "reasonable return" on its investment over and above its costs. Government is permitted to make a reasonable return on proprietary activities. State v. City of Miami, 155 Fla. 180, 19 So.2d 790 (1944), City of Pompano Beach v. Ollman, 389 So.2d 283 (1980). Government may not, on the other hand, raise revenues above its costs from governmental activities. See, e.g., Contractors and Builders Association of Pinellas County v. City of Dunedin, 329 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1976), and City of Daytona Beach Shores v. State, 483 So.2d 405. Thus, even assuming the building and maintenance of roads and streets is indeed a purely government function, the City is not prevented from imposing its user-charge, but is merely denied the ability to make a profit above its costs. In this case, the City's costs are far in excess of the expected receipts from the fees, and the City's ordinance clearly restricts the use of those receipts only to the payment of the costs of building, operating and maintaining the local street system.

As the Appellant has stated, the right of the citizens of Florida to use the public highways and streets is subject to the police powers of state and local governments and to the power of taxation for the building and maintenance of the roads. There is no substantive distinction

between the limitation, if any, imposed upon the exercise of the public's rights to use the roads by the levy of a tax and the charging of a fee; in either case the limitation is no greater than that required to ensure that the facilities are available. If it is permissible to <u>tax</u> for the use of public ways in order to provide funds to build and maintain them, and such <u>tax</u> would not impermissibly impair the right to freely travel the public street, then it must be permissible to impose a user-fee for such usage because the impairment of the right is no greater and the governmental purpose is the same.

In summary, the City's transportation utility fee is a reasonable user-charge which will raise funds solely for the building, operation and maintenance of the local streets. Even if roads are characterized as a governmental function, the City may legally impose user-charges to offset the costs of governmental functions. Further, because the monies raised are required to be used solely to provide and maintain the streets, the fee does not create a legally impermissible limitation upon the citizens' right to freely use the public streets in the City.

- II. THE CITY IS AUTHORIZED TO CREATE A TRANSPORTATION UTILITY AND TO IMPOSE TRANSPORTATION UTILITY FEES.
  - A. A UTILITY IS THE FUNDING OF A GOVERNMENTAL PROGRAM BY CHARGING THE COST OF THE PROGRAM TO THE BENEFICIARIES.

A utility may be defined as the funding of a governmental program by charging the cost of the program to the beneficiaries based upon their relative contribution to its need. Thus, for example, Section 403.031(16), Florida Statutes (1992), defines a stormwater utility as:

"Stormwater utility" means the funding of a stormwater management program by assessing the cost of the program to the beneficiaries based on their relative contribution to its need. It is operated as a typical utility which bills services regularly, similar to water and wastewater services.

The validity of stormwater utilities has previously been upheld by Florida courts. See City of Port Orange v. State, Case No. 88-0913-CA-01, Division D (Fla. 7th Cir. Ct. 1988).

The City of Port Orange has created a transportation utility for the purpose of funding a portion of the maintenance and improvement of the local road system in the City by charging the costs thereof to the persons who benefit from the local road system, based upon their contribution to the need for the local road system, as measured by their use of the system.

B. THE CITY HAS FULL AUTHORITY UNDER ITS HOME RULE POWERS AND FLORIDA STATUTES 166.201 TO CREATE THE TRANSPORTATION UTILITY AND TO RAISE REVENUES THROUGH USER CHARGES.

Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the 1968 Constitution of the State of Florida and the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act grants broad home rule powers to Florida municipalities. Section 2(b) of Article VIII provides in pertinent part:

Municipalities shall have governmental, corporate and proprietary powers to enable them to conduct municipal government, perform municipal functions and render municipal services, and may exercise any powers for municipal purposes except as otherwise provided by law. (Emphasis added.)

The Honorable Paul W. Danahy, Jr., who was Chairman of the House Committee on Local Government, described the effect of this constitutional provision as follows:

"a municipality need not seek legislation unless it is needed to remove a <u>special prohibition</u> against performing a function; the absence of a specific prohibition means that the municipality may proceed in the manner deemed appropriate at the local level." (Emphasis added.)

See, Memorandum from Representative Paul W. Danahy to members of the Florida House of Representatives, Feb. 18, 1969, as granted in Sparkman, The History and Status of Local Government Power in Florida, 25 Fla. L. Rev. 271 (1973), at 273. Talbot "Sandy" D'Alemberte, the reporter for the Constitutional Revision Commission (later the Dean of the Florida State University School of Law) described the difference between the above quoted provisions of the 1968 and 1885 Constitutions as follows:

"The apparent difference is that under the new language, all municipalities have governmental, corporate and proprietary powers unless otherwise provided by law, whereas under the 1885 Constitution, municipalities had only those powers expressly granted by law."

Commentary by Talbot "Sandy" D'Alemberte, 26A West's Florida Statutes Annotated 292.

In the first litigated case involving the scope of municipal powers decided after the adoption of the 1968 Constitution, the Florida Supreme Court held that a statute was needed to define the scope of the term "municipal purpose," as used in Section 2(b). City of Miami Beach v. Fleetwood Hotel, Inc., 261 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1972). The Legislature responded in 1973 by enacting the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act (which is codified in Chapter 166, Florida Statutes). The Municipal Home Rule Powers Act was declared to be constitutional by the Florida Supreme Court in City of Miami Beach v. Forte Towers, Inc., 305 So.2d 764 (Fla. 1974).

Section 166.021, Florida Statutes (a section of the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act), sets forth the scope of municipal home rule powers. The pertinent provisions of that section are as follows:

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